**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT
APPEAL FROM THE MICHIGAN COURT OF APPEALS
MURPHY, P.J., SAWYER AND BECKERING, J.J.**

HONIGMAN, MILLER, SCHWARTZ
AND COHN LLP,

Petitioner-Appellee,

Supreme Court No. 157522
Court of Appeals No.336175
MTT Document No. 16-000266

v.

CITY OF DETROIT,

Respondent-Appellant

BRIEF ON APPEAL BY CITY OF DETROIT, APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Lawrence T. Garcia (P54890)
Charles N. Raimi (P29746)
Attorneys for appellant, City of Detroit
City of Detroit Law Department
2 Woodward Avenue, Suite 500
Detroit, MI 48226
(313) 237-5037
raimic@detroitmi.gov

January 14, 2019

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The court of appeals issued its published opinion on January 18, 2018. App 2a The City timely filed a motion for reconsideration on February 6, 2018, which was denied on March 1, 2018. App. 7a. The City timely filed its application for leave to appeal to this Court, and this Court thereafter issued its November 21, 2018 Order granting the City's application. App.1a.

STATEMENT OF QUESTION INVOLVED

The Honigman firm (Taxpayer) operates offices inside and outside the City of Detroit. The three factor formula used to apportion Taxpayer's income for purposes of the City income tax includes a revenue factor, the numerator of which is revenue derived from "services rendered in the city." The question here is this: When Taxpayer's legal professionals' bill clients for legal work performed in Taxpayer's Detroit office or another Detroit location such as Wayne County Circuit Court, is the resulting revenue derived from "services rendered in the city?"

The tax tribunal answered: Yes

Respondent-appellant City of Detroit answers: Yes

Petitioner-appellee Honigman, Miller, Schwartz and Cohn LLP answers: No, unless the client for whom the services are performed is physically located within the City.

The court of appeals answered: "No," and that "the relevant consideration is where the client receives the services."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Honigman Firm (Taxpayer or Firm) operates offices inside and outside the City of Detroit. The Taxpayer is allowed to apportion its income for City of Detroit income tax purposes. MCL 141.620 et seq. App. 89a. The statutes employ a three-factor apportionment formula. The factors reflect the percentages that Taxpayer's Detroit payroll, property and revenue bear to Taxpayer's total payroll, property and revenue everywhere. The factors are added and divided by three to produce the final apportionment percentage. The Taxpayer's total net income is multiplied by that percentage to determine the income subject to Detroit tax.

The only dispute in this case is the calculation of the numerator of the revenue factor. The numerator is defined as: **“the gross revenue of the taxpayer derived from sales made and services rendered in the city * * *.”** MCL 141.623, emphasis added. The denominator is the taxpayer's “total gross revenue from sales and services wherever made or rendered * * *.” Id. During the years at issue, despite the fact that some 60% of its lawyers worked out of its Detroit office, Taxpayer calculated its revenue factor at roughly 9% - 11% - versus the City's calculation of roughly 50%. The total tax for the years in dispute is roughly \$1 million.

The question is this: When one of Taxpayer's lawyers spends time in Taxpayer's Detroit office or another Detroit location such as Wayne County Circuit Court, conducting research, preparing a brief or purchase agreement, arguing a

motion, etc., and then bills the client for the time spent in Detroit rendering those service, is that revenue derived from “services rendered in the city?” The plain language of the statute confirms that the answer is “yes,” and there is no need to resort to dictionaries or any other interpretative aids. Of course, to the extent one of Taxpayer’s Detroit based (or other) lawyers renders services at one of Taxpayer’s suburban offices, or any location outside the City, those would not be in-city services. The Taxpayer carefully tracked the precise location where its professionals rendered services.

The lower court, relying on a section of the statute dealing with sales of tangible goods, engrafted a physical delivery requirement for intangible legal services. The court held that “the relevant consideration is where the client **receives** the services.” App.6a, emphasis added. The lower court rewrote the statute – from “services rendered in the city” to “services physically delivered within the city.”

“Professionals provide services, not goods. The client pays for the professional’s skill and expertise, not a physical product.”¹ Where the lawyer’s skill and expertise is applied in Detroit, in drafting a document, etc. those are services rendered in Detroit.

¹ MI Eth. Op. R-019 (August 4, 2000), app. 10a, holding that after termination of a lawyer-client relationship, the client generally has access to materials in the lawyer’s file but may be required to pay the lawyer’s costs of reviewing and copying the file materials.

Taxpayer's procedures make no attempt to determine where its clients "physically receive" legal services. Rather, Taxpayer computed an 11% revenue factor by including only certain revenue paid by clients who were physically located within the city (as defined by Taxpayer). Services rendered by a Firm attorney in Wayne County Circuit Court (Detroit), for a suburban client, would not be considered by Taxpayer as services rendered in the city.

The lower court ignored the most fundamental rules of statutory construction. "A statute's * * * words and phrases must be applied and interpreted according to their plain and ordinary meanings." *Pohutski v. City of Allen Park*, 465 Mich 675, 683 (2002). The controlling phrase here – services rendered in the city – is unambiguous, but the lower court did not even pause to consider its plain meaning. Instead, the court immediately resorted to use of interpretative aids which were neither relevant nor necessary. And those aids, when properly applied, fully support the City's position.

CONCISE STATEMENT OF MATERIAL PROCEEDINGS AND FACTS

A. The Taxpayer

The Taxpayer is a law firm organized as a limited liability partnership. Its headquarters is located at 2290 First National Building, Detroit, Michigan 48226. During the tax years at issue, it also maintained offices in Ann Arbor, Kalamazoo, Lansing, and in Oakland County.

The Taxpayer provided legal services through legal professionals who were either employees or partners (owners) of the limited partnership. During each of the years in question the Taxpayer employed more than 230 legal professionals, more than 50% of whom were located in Detroit.

B. The Taxpayer's computation of the revenue factor.

The Taxpayer's procedures were set forth in affidavits executed by two Taxpayer partners and filed with the Tax Tribunal. App. 12a, Weigel affidavit; app. 25a, Indenbaum affidavit.

The Taxpayer required each timekeeper to identify, for each time entry, the physical location at which the service was rendered. Weigel aff. App 13a, ¶9, (time reports include "a physical location code of the timekeeper * * *."). Tab A to Weigel's affidavit (app 18a) is an example of a memo issued by the Taxpayer annually to all timekeepers. The memo instructs all timekeepers "When entering your time, please be sure you use accurate location codes * * *. The location code

is important not only in determining the amount of your state and local taxes, but also the amount of [city] tax the Taxpayer pays on behalf of the partnership.”

The memo identifies the location codes as follows: AA (Ann Arbor), DET (Detroit), LANS (Lansing), OCTY (Oakland County), KZOO (Kalamazoo), MI (Other: Michigan), and NMI (Other: Non-Michigan). So, for example, if an attorney based in Lansing appeared in Wayne County Circuit Court, that entry would show DET (Detroit) as the location. Those physical location codes identify where the services were rendered. But those codes do **not** determine whether the Taxpayer treats the revenue as in-city or out-of-city.

The affidavits explain that at the outset of an engagement, the Taxpayer creates a billing address for the client. The Taxpayer uses that address to establish a code identifying the client as located inside or outside of Detroit. Invoices are mailed to that address. If the “client location” is coded as outside Detroit, **all** revenue generated from that client is treated as out-of-city revenue. Indenbaum aff., app 26a, ¶¶ 8, 12, 17 (“Revenue was considered in-city revenue where such revenue was received from a client located within the city limits.”); Weigel aff., app 15a, ¶18 (same). The Taxpayer’s lower court brief, citing those affidavits, stated “The Taxpayer calculated its in-city revenue by summing the gross revenue collected from clients located within the city.” Taxpayer’s court of appeals’ brief, February 10, 2017, p. 6.

Assume a Taxpayer lawyer prepared a brief while working in the Detroit office, or attended a motion hearing, for a case in Wayne County Circuit Court. The lawyer's time records will include the code "DET," meaning the services were rendered in Detroit. But if the client was coded as "out-of-city," none of the resulting revenue would be considered in-city revenue.²

C. The examination.

The City had never examined the Taxpayer's returns prior to this case, nor did the City ever approve the Taxpayer's reporting methodology. The City elected to examine the Taxpayer after reviewing the Taxpayer's returns showing a 9% - 11% revenue factor over five years. The City requested, and the Taxpayer provided,

² The Taxpayer's affidavits do not explain how a client is determined to be in-city or out-of-city. The Taxpayer, citing attorney client privilege, declined to identify specific clients or their applicable street address that determined whether they were in or out-city. Weigel aff., app. 15a , ¶22. Many businesses have locations within and without Detroit – but the affidavits do not explain how the controlling location was determined.

Moreover, it appears that the Taxpayer requires both of the following before revenue is considered in-City. First, the service must be rendered by an attorney while physically located in the City. Second, the client for whom the service is rendered must also be physically located in the City. The Taxpayer's affidavits are not clear on this point, but there would be no purpose in carefully tracking the physical location of the attorney performing the service, if the sole determining factor was whether the client was coded as in-City or out-City.

The City did not pursue discovery on these points, believing the phrase "services rendered in the city" is unambiguous.

schedules showing gross revenue collections based on the location where the services were rendered. Only the revenue factor was adjusted. The chart below shows (i) the property and payroll factors (upon which the parties' agreed) and (ii) the revenue factor as calculated by Taxpayer and by the City (all are %s).

	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Property Factor:	56.5	59.7	61.5	58.8	56.3
Payroll Factor:	71.6	70.9	68.7	65.6	64.9
Revenue Factor					
- Per Taxpayer	10.4	10.4	9.4	11.1	11.4
- Per City	51.1	53.5	51.8	50.1	49.0
SEE FOOTNOTE ³					

The City issued a proposed assessment of \$1,095,753 in additional tax. The assessment became final on January 9, 2016. The Taxpayer thereafter filed its petition in the Michigan Tax Tribunal.

D. The Tax Tribunal proceedings.

The City and Taxpayer filed cross-motions for partial summary disposition on the construction of the revenue factor in MCL 141.623. On October 20, 2016, the Tribunal issued an order granting the City's motion and denying the Taxpayer's motion. App. 35a. The order held the statute was ambiguous but did not explain why. The order then held that the determination of where services are rendered in MCL 141.623 is governed by where the services are performed. App.39a, pp. 5-6.

³ Firm partners receive compensation via distributions of profits. Those distributions are not included in the payroll factor. The payroll factor reflects wages paid to associate attorneys and support staff.

Following that order, the parties reached agreement on penalties and interest and entered a stipulation with the Tax Tribunal on December 1, 2016. App. 41a. Taxpayer timely appealed to the court of appeals.

E. The court of appeals proceedings.

The court of appeals, during oral argument, asked the Taxpayer's counsel how the Taxpayer would treat revenue arising from services rendered in the Wayne County Circuit Court (located in Detroit) for a client located outside of the City. App 46a, pp 4-6. The Taxpayer's counsel responded, contrary to the Taxpayer's affidavits, that such revenue would be considered "in-city" revenue:

"THE COURT: What if you have a client in let's say Southfield, and you do legal work for that client, and then you file the case in the Third Circuit. Now, at that point, the rendering for that, where does that fit into that concept?

"MR. PIRICH: Well, if you saw one of the affidavits that we did, we get strict admonitions from our administrative cohorts who tell us our entry of time has to reflect those kinds of nuances.

So if I'm in Wayne County Circuit Court and I'm performing service there, that is going to be within the City under Section 623. There is no question about that. But if it's to Southfield and it is to the entity there, that is not covered by the City of Detroit income tax.

"THE COURT: So how do you answer Judge Sawyer's question? If you give advice to a lawyer that is in Oakland, it's out of the city, but if you file a lawsuit in Wayne for that client, where was the service performed?

"MR. PIRICH: We allocate the time depending upon where the rendering occurs. That is exactly what we do.

“THE COURT: The rendering means what?

“MR. PIRICH: Where it is actually received and, under the destination test definition, where it actually is received.

“THE COURT: So in a lawsuit, if you write a complaint and you file it in Wayne, is that where the service is received?

“MR. PIRICH: **If it is filed in Wayne, that would be in Wayne County and subject to if the City of Detroit that activity.**

* * * * *

“MR. PIRICH: * * * In the affidavits of Mr. Wigle and my partner Mr. Indenbaum, we clearly identify how we do it.” App, 48a, emphasis added.

Shortly thereafter, the Taxpayer’s counsel again reassured the Court that revenue generated from services rendered in Wayne County Circuit Court, for an out-of-city client, would be included in “in-city” revenue pursuant to the referenced affidavits. App 43a.

The City’s counsel was shocked to hear counsel’s false “rendering” argument that contradicted the Taxpayer’s own affidavits and appellate briefs. The City’s counsel tried three times to alert the court but on each occasion the court turned to a different subject. App 59a (“Mr. Pirich said something to the effect that if a service is rendered for a Wayne County Circuit Court case, that would somehow be captured as a service rendered in Detroit. There is nothing in the affidavits to support that.”); app. 62a (“They [the Taxpayer] do not keep track of whether a pleading is going to Wayne County Circuit Court or Oakland County Circuit Court. They keep

track of where the lawyer performs his service, which is exactly consistent with the phrase “services rendered in Detroit.”)

The court issued its published opinion eight days after oral argument. App. 2a. The City timely filed a motion for reconsideration discussing, *inter alia*, the inconsistency between the Taxpayer’s actual practice and its “delivery” argument. The Taxpayer did not attempt to explain its counsel’s misrepresentations, rather, the Taxpayer argued that the City had not met its burden for reconsideration. The court denied the motion without comment. App 7a.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This case involves an issue of statutory construction, which this Court reviews *de novo*. *Wexford Medical Group v. Cadillac*, 474 Mich 192, 202 (2006).

II. STATUTORY FRAMEWORK.

A. The Uniform City Income Tax Act.

Michigan adopted the Uniform City Income Tax Act in 1964 P.A. 284; MCL 141.601 *et seq.* The City of Detroit then adopted an Ordinance incorporating the provisions of the state law. Consistent with the lower court’s opinion, this brief cites to the state statute and not the City ordinance.

B. Taxation of unincorporated businesses

Taxpayer is a partnership - an unincorporated business. MCL 141.615 provides that an unincorporated business is not itself liable for City income tax. Rather, “[T]he persons carrying on the unincorporated business, profession or other activity are liable for income tax only in their separate and individual capacities.” The individual owners of the Taxpayer (its partners) are liable for Detroit tax on their respective shares of the Taxpayer’s net income apportioned to Detroit under the three-factor formula discussed below.⁴

C. Election to pay taxes of owners.

MCL 141.617 permits an electing partnership (or other unincorporated business) to pay the tax due with respect to each owner’s share of the net profit. For the tax years here, the Taxpayer exercised that election. Taxpayer filed returns and paid tax on behalf of its partners. Hence its status here as the Taxpayer.

D. Determining business activity allocated to Detroit.

A taxpayer that conducts business both within and without the city of Detroit is entitled to allocate its net profit. The parties here do not dispute that the business allocation formula, sometimes referred to as the “three-factor” formula, applies to this case. MCL 141.620-24, app 89a. The three factors of the formula can be summarized as follows:

⁴ Individuals who are not City residents pay income tax at a rate 50% of City residents (1.2% versus 2.4%). The difference is not relevant to the issue in this case.

First, the Detroit percentage of the taxpayer's property is determined by dividing taxpayer's in-city property by property located within or without the City. MCL 141.621. Second, the Detroit percentage of taxpayer's compensation to employees is determined by dividing compensation paid to employees in Detroit by compensation paid to employees within or without the City. MCL 141.622.

Third, the Detroit percentage of gross revenue derived from "sales made and services rendered in the city" must be ascertained. MCL 141.623. The Legislature properly believed the phrase "services rendered in the city" was unambiguous and, therefore, provided no further definition or explanation of the phrase. The statute does, however, provide a number of examples to assist in determining **which sales of tangible goods** are considered "in-city":

"Third, the taxpayer shall ascertain the percentage which the gross revenue of the taxpayer derived from sales made and services rendered in the city is of the total gross revenue from sales and services wherever made or rendered during the period covered by the return.

(1) For the purposes of this section, "**sales made in the city**" means all sales where the **goods, merchandise or property** is received in the city by purchaser, or a person or Taxpayer designated by him. In the case of delivery of goods in the city to a common or private carrier or by other means of transportation, the place at which the delivery has been completed is considered as the place at which the goods are received by the purchaser.

The following examples are not all inclusive but may serve as a guide for determining sales made in the city.

(a) Sales to a customer in the city with shipments to destination within the city from a location in the city or an out-of-city location are considered sales made in the city.

(b) Sales to a customer in the city with shipments to a destination within the city directly from the taxpayer's in-city supplier or out-of-city supplier are considered sales made in the city.

(c) Sales to a customer in the city with shipments directly to the customer at his regularly maintained and established out-of-city location are considered out-of-city sales.

(d) Sales to an out-of-city customer with shipments or deliveries to the customer's location within the city are considered sales made in the city.

(e) Sales to an out-of-city customer with shipments to an out-of-city destination are considered out-of-city sales." Emphasis added.

Finally, the property, compensation and revenue factor percentages are added and divided by three to obtain the average. That fraction is multiplied against the Taxpayer's net profit to determine the in-city taxable income. MCL 141.624.

III. "SERVICES RENDERED IN THE CITY" IS SYNONYMOUS WITH SERVICES PERFORMED IN THE CITY.

A. The key phrase "services rendered in the city" is unambiguous.

This Court has instructed that courts should not "hasten" to find ambiguity, thereby enabling "bypass [of] traditional approaches to [statutory] interpretation * * *." *Mayor of City of Lansing v MPSC*, 470 Mich 154, 164, 165 (2004). The traditional approach to construing a statute is to simply read the words. "A statute's * * * words and phrases must be applied and interpreted according to their plain and

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