STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
Murphy, P.J., Sawyer and Beckering, JJ

HONIGMAN MILLER SCHWARTZ AND
COHN LLP,¹

Petitioner-Appellee,

v

CITY OF DETROIT,

Respondent-Appellant.

SC: 157522

COA: 336175

Tax Tribunal LC No.: 16-000202

PETITIONER-APPELLEE HONIGMAN LLP'S
BRIEF ON APPEAL

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

HONIGMAN LLP

By: /s/ Robert M. Riley

Leonard M. Niehoff (P36695)

Lynn A. Gandhi (P60466)

Robert M. Riley (P72290)

2290 First National Building

660 Woodward Avenue

Detroit, MI 48226

Tel: (313) 465-7000

lniehoff@honigman.com

lgandhi@honigman.com

rriley@honigman.com

Counsel for Petitioner-Appellee Honigman LLP

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals faithfully applied longstanding principles of statutory interpretation to arrive at the correct interpretation and application of CITA. This Court should affirm its judgment.

"The primary goal of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the intent of the Legislature." *In re MCI Telecommunications Complaint*, 460 Mich 396, 411; 596 NW2d 164 (1999). "The first step in that determination is to review the language of the statute itself." *Id.* "If the statute is unambiguous on its face, the Legislature will be presumed to have intended the meaning expressed" *Id.* When determining the Legislature's intent, courts "must give effect to every word, phrase, and clause in a statute and avoid an interpretation that renders nugatory or surplusage any part of the statute." *Jespersion*, 499 Mich at 34. "The rules governing the construction of statutes apply with equal force to the interpretation of municipal ordinances." *Gora v City of Ferndale*, 456 Mich 704, 711; 576 NW2d 141 (1998).

Of particular importance here, statutes must be construed as a whole. “It is a well-established rule of statutory construction that provisions of a statute must be construed in light of the other provisions of the statute to carry out the apparent purpose of the Legislature.” *Farrington v Total Petroleum*, 442 Mich 201, 209; 501 NW2d 76 (1993). See also *Robinson v City of Lansing*, 486 Mich 1, 15-16; 782 NW2d 171 (2010), holding that statutes must not be read in isolation:

[T]o discern the Legislature’s intent, *statutory provisions are not to be read in isolation; rather, context matters, and thus statutory provisions are to be read as a whole.* *Apsey v Mem Hosp*, 477 Mich 120, 132 n 8, 730 NW2d 695 (2007) (“To discern the true intent of the Legislature, . . . statutes must be read together, and **no one section should be taken in isolation.**”); *Griffith v State Farm Mut Automobile Ins Co*, 472 Mich 521, 533, 697 NW2d 895 (2005) (“[T]he meaning of statutory language, plain or not, depends on context.”) (citation omitted); *GC Timmis & Co v Guardian Alarm Co*, 468 Mich 416, 421, 662 NW2d 710 (2003) (“[W]ords in a statute should not be construed in the void, but should be read together to harmonize the meaning, giving effect to the act as a whole.”) (citation omitted). “[A]ny attempt to segregate any portion or exclude any portion [of a statute] from consideration is almost certain to distort the legislative intent.” 2A Singer & Singer, *Statutes and Statutory Construction* (7th ed), § 47.2, p 282. [Emphasis added.]

Seizing a statutory provision from its context and reading it in isolation violates the canons of interpretation, distorts the statute’s meaning, and flouts the Legislature’s intent. That is precisely the City’s approach here.

A. Taxing Jurisdictions, Including the City, Consider Multiple Factors in Determining Taxable Revenue

1. Multi-Factor Tests Are Commonplace among Tax Statutes

Determining the appropriate tax for a company that conducts business both in and out of a taxing jurisdiction poses serious challenges. To address them, taxing statutes typically consider a variety of factors. A leading tax scholar has noted that jurisdictions historically

considered four methods to determine the amount of revenue subject to tax—the destination test, the origin test, the sales office negotiation test, and the sales activity test:

Historically, the states used four different methods for attributing receipts to the numerator of a state’s sales factor: (1) *the destination test*, attribution to the state in which the goods are shipped to the customer, or in which they are delivered to the customer; (2) *the origin test*, attribution to the state of the factory, warehouse, or office from which the goods are shipped; (3) *the sales office negotiation test*, attribution to the state of the sales office from or through which the sale was principally negotiated; (4) *the sales activity test*, attribution to the state in which the sales employees principally conducted selling activities.

Hellerstein & Hellerstein, *State and Local Taxation* (8th ed), pp 658-659. Each of these tests accounts for a different aspect of a taxpayer’s business activity, such as the location at which customers receive goods or services, the location of the property from which goods are shipped, the location of where the sale negotiation or activity took place, and so on. Based on those locations and whether business activity was conducted in the jurisdiction, a city can determine the appropriate amount of revenue to tax.

The Legislature’s approach in drafting CITA aligns with this convention. CITA considers multiple factors to calculate taxable revenue that take into account different ways of thinking about whether a business activity occurred in or out of the City. Particularly under these circumstances—where the legislative design incorporates multiple factors that work cumulatively and in conjunction to achieve the desired result—it is critical to consider the statute as a whole.

2. *CITA Employs a Three-Factor Test*

The primary method for calculating that portion of a taxpayer’s revenue that is subject to city income tax is known as the “business allocation percentage method.” See MCL 141.620. This method “shall be used” unless a taxpayer and the City agree to use a separate method of

allocation. *Id.*⁴ Under the business allocation percentage method, the net profits of a taxpayer earned as a result of work done, services rendered, or other business conducted in the city is ascertained by determining the total in-city percentages of property, payroll, and sales. Thus, continuing historical practices like those recognized by Professor Hellerstein, each of these factors is separately computed and determined in accordance with MCL 141.621 through MCL 141.624. And each factor captures a different aspect of a company's business that is distinct from the other two factors.

a. The Property Factor: Where Is the Property?

The first factor is the property factor—MCL 141.621. This factor captures the percentage of the taxpayer's real and personal property located in the City. The factor attributes taxable revenue based on a company's assets that are located in the City and that allow the business to generate revenue.

b. The Payroll Factor: Where Is the Work Done?

The second factor is the payroll factor—MCL 141.622. This factor captures the percentage of "total compensation paid to employees for work done or for *services performed* within the City." MCL 141.622 (emphasis added). If an employee works both in and out of the City, the employee's compensation is allocated such that only the in-city portion is included in the factor's numerator. *Id.* In other words, the payroll factor quantifies the extent to which a taxpayer's employees are physically present in the City.

⁴ The other two allocation methods are set forth in MCL 141.619 and MCL 141.625, under each of which a substitute method is used, subject to the City's approval. Neither of those methods is at issue in this case.

The payroll factor plays a significant role in this case because, as will be discussed, the City's theory would make this factor's consideration of employee's location redundant with the third factor, the sales factor.

c. The Sales Factor: Where Is the Benefit of the Work Received?

The third factor is the sales factor—MCL 141.623. This factor captures the percentage of revenue derived “from sales made and *services rendered* in the city.” MCL 141.623 (emphasis added). In other words, the sales factor quantifies the extent to which a taxpayer's customers receive goods or services in the City:

Third, the taxpayer shall ascertain *the percentage which the gross revenue of the taxpayer derived from sales made and services rendered* in the city is of the total gross revenue from sales and services wherever made or rendered during the period covered by the return.

Id.

The Legislature went out of its way to dispose of any doubt about what this factor seeks to capture. The statute provides several examples of what constitutes sales made “in the city” and clarifies that the location of the customer who receives goods or services (and not the location of the taxpayer's employees performing the work) is dispositive to whether sales are deemed in-city:

(1) For the purposes of this section, “*sales made in the city*” means all sales where the goods, merchandise or property is received in the city by the purchaser, or a person or firm designated by him. In the case of delivery of goods in the city to a common or private carrier or by other means of transportation, the place at which the delivery has been completed is considered as the place at which the goods are received by the purchaser.

The following examples are not all inclusive but may serve as a guide for determining sales made in the city:

(a) *Sales to a customer in the city with shipments to a destination within the city from a location in the city or an out-of-city location are considered sales made in the city.*

(b) Sales to a customer in the city with shipments to a destination within the city directly from the taxpayer's in-city supplier or out-of-city supplier are considered sales made in the city.

(c) *Sales to a customer in the city with shipments directly to the customer at his regularly maintained and established out-of-city location are considered out-of-city sales.*

(d) Sales to an out-of-city customer with shipments or deliveries to the customer's location within the city are considered sales made in the city.

(e) *Sales to an out-of-city customer with shipments to an out-of-city destination are considered out-of-city sales.*

(2) In the case of public utilities, or businesses furnishing transportation services, "gross revenue" for the purposes of this section may be measured by such means as operating revenues, vehicle miles, revenue miles, passenger miles, ton miles, tonnage, or such other method as shall reasonably measure the proportion of gross revenue obtained in the city by such business.

(3) *In case the business of the taxpayer involves substantial business activities other than sales of goods and services such other method or methods of allocation shall be employed as shall reasonably measure the proportion of gross revenue obtained in the city by such business.*

Id. (emphasis added). Thus, while the payroll factor seeks to account for where work performed *originates*, the sales factor seeks to account for where the fruits of that activity are *received* by the end-customer or client.

Once each of these three factors has been computed, the taxpayer adds the property, payroll, and sales percentages together, then divides that sum by three to determine its business allocation percentage. MCL 141.624. Notably, if one of the three factors does not apply to a business (e.g., because it does not have any property), the sum of the percentages is divided by the number of factors actually used. *Id.*

B. The Court of Appeals Gave Proper Meaning to CITA's Three-Factor Test

Against this statutory backdrop, the core of this dispute is whether work performed by the Firm in the City, on behalf of a client located outside the City, is “rendered” in-city or out-of-city for purposes *of the sales factor*—MCL 141.623. The Court of Appeals held that the relevant consideration is where the client receives services. In other words, the client’s location determines whether the revenue attributable to the services rendered is in-city or out-of-city. The Court of Appeals applied a common sense reading of the sales factor and its supporting examples, along with basic principles of statutory interpretation to reach this correct conclusion.

1. CITA Is Not Ambiguous

The Tax Tribunal concluded that the sales factor is ambiguous because it does not address how services are to be allocated. But, in reaching this conclusion, the Tax Tribunal did not engage in any actual statutory interpretation and failed to consider CITA’s overall structure in any depth. Instead, it simply opined that the sales factor is a restatement of the payroll factor in that it considers where services are “performed”—as used in the payroll factor—instead of where they are “rendered”—as required by the express language of the sales factor:

- (1) “Reading CITA in context, the Tribunal finds that the difference reflects nothing more than the syntax of the English language. The term “performed” is used in MCL 141.622 because that section pertains to compensation paid to employees, and services are typically “performed” for an employer, while in terms of generating revenue, they are “rendered” to a client....”;
- (2) “[S]ervices are intangible, and they cannot be ‘delivered’ in the same manner as tangible items”;
- (3) There is a definition of render that is synonymous with perform; and
- (4) There was no cogent reason to overrule the City’s construction.

(Order, pp 4-6; Appx 38a-40a.) The Tax Tribunal cited no authority for this syntax analysis, nor does such authority exist.

In any event, there was no need to embark on any such analysis. Granted, if one provision of a statute irreconcilably conflicts with another, or if a statutory term is equally susceptible to multiple meanings, this may give rise to ambiguity that requires resolution. *Mayor of the City of Lansing v Pub Serv Comm*, 470 Mich 154, 166; 680 NW2d 840 (2004) (“[A] provision of the law is ambiguous only if it ‘irreconcilably conflict[s]’ with another provision . . . or when it is equally susceptible to more than a single meaning.”), superseded by statute on other grounds by *South Dearborn Environmental Improvement Assoc, Inc v Dep’t of Environmental Quality*, 502 Mich 349; 917 NW2d 603 (2018). But here, there is no conflict between the payroll factor and the sales factor—to the contrary, by design they target different business activity. Nor is the sales factor susceptible to multiple interpretations—to the contrary, read in the context of CITA’s overall scheme, its meaning is plain.

2. *The Payroll and Sales Factors Capture Different Aspects of a Taxpayer’s Business*

Honigman complied with both the letter and spirit of MCL 141.623 in calculating the sales factor for the Subject Years by properly considering where its services are rendered, as determined by the location of its clients. The City’s argument to the contrary is based on its unsupportable claim that “services *rendered* in the city” in the sales factor means the same thing as “services *performed* in the city” in the payroll factor. Not so. Those factors account for different aspects of a taxpayer’s business: where employees are physically located when they perform work, and where goods or services are delivered to a customer or client. The City’s analysis eradicates a distinction that CITA took pains to create.

In defining the payroll factor, MCL 141.622 uses the phrase “services performed within the city” as the test for whether compensation is considered in-city or out-of-city:

Second, the taxpayer shall ascertain the percentage which the total compensation paid to employees for work done or for *services performed within the city* is of the total compensation paid to all the taxpayer’s employees within and without the city during the period covered by the return

MCL 141.622 (emphasis added). The statute provides examples of what types of compensation are for “services *performed* in the city.” The examples clarify the Legislature’s intent to apportion tax based on work done in the City:

If an employee performs services within and without the city, the following examples are not all inclusive but may serve as a guide for determining the amount to be treated as compensation for *services performed within the city*:

(a) In the case of an employee compensated on a time basis, the proportion of *the total amount received by him which his working time within the city is of his total working time*.

(b) In the case of an employee compensated directly on the volume of business secured by him, such as a salesman on a commission basis, the amount received by him for *business attributable to his efforts in the city*.

(c) In the case of an employee compensated on other results achieved, *the proportion of the total compensation received which the value of his services within the city bears to the value of all his services*.

Id. (emphasis added). Indeed, “perform” means “1. To adhere to the terms of; 2. *Carry out, do*; 3. To do in a formal manner or according to prescribed ritual, to give a rendition of.” *Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary*, 2019 <<https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/perform>> (emphasis added) (accessed February 18, 2019).⁵ Put simply, the payroll factor accounts for that

⁵ As described below, it is appropriate to consider dictionary definitions here.

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